Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

9-28-2021

### State v. Alvarez Appellant's Brief Dckt. 48918

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Mario Alberto Alvarez appeals from the district court's Judgment of Conviction and Order of Commitment. Mr. Alvarez was sentenced to a unified sentence of fourteen years, with four years fixed, for grand theft by receiving, possessing, and/or obtaining control over stolen property. He asserts that the district court abused its discretion because in light of the evidence, including the mitigating factors present in his case, the ultimate sentencing conclusion was unreasonable.

## Statement of the Facts & Course of Proceedings

On February 19, 2020 an Information was filed charging Mr. Alvarez with grand theft by receiving, possessing, and/or obtaining control over stolen property. (R., pp.26-27.) The charges were the result of a report to police, by Steven Vicuna, that “Mario Alvarez” had cashed a check for \$1200.00 that had been previously stolen from his vehicle. (PSI, p.1.)<sup>1</sup> The check was deposited in Mr. Alvarez’ Idaho Central Credit Union account. (PSI, p.1.) Mr. Alvarez denied stealing the check, noting that it was given to him by Chancellor Threatt. (PSI, p.1.) Mr. Threatt admitted that he gave the check to Mr. Alvarez. (PSI, p.2.)

Mr. Alvarez entered a not guilty plea the charge. (R., p.30.) After numerous delays due to the pandemic, Mr. Alvarez’s case was identified as a high priority case and, the trial that had been previously scheduled for July, was moved up to April, on relatively short notice. (R., pp.82, 92.) At trial, the State presented three witnesses: Steven Vicuna, the owner of the check (Tr., p.104, L.1 – p.113, L.25); Amy Black, an employee of Idaho Central Credit Union (Tr., p.130, L.5 – p.146, L.4); and Detective Whilden, the officer who investigated the crime and interviewed Mr. Alvarez (Tr., p.147, L.1 – p.162, L.18). The defense did not call any witnesses. (Tr., p.165, Ls.17-23.) The jury found Mr. Alvarez guilty. (R., p.107.)

At sentencing, the State recommended a unified sentence of fourteen years, with four years fixed. (Tr., p.214, Ls.6-7.) Defense counsel requested an underlying sentence of six years, with two years fixed, suspended for probation, including enhanced conditions such as participation in Drug Court, an ankle monitor, and/or participation in the Community Transition Center program. (Tr., p.215, Ls.8-21.) The district court imposed a unified sentence of fourteen

---

<sup>1</sup> For ease of reference, the electronic file containing the Presentence Investigation Report and attachments will be cited as “PSI” and referenced pages will correspond with the electronic page numbers contained in this file.

years, with four years fixed. (R., pp.134-36.) Mr. Alvarez filed a Notice of Appeal timely from the district court's Judgment of Conviction and Order of Commitment. (R., pp.138-39.)

### ISSUE

Did the district court abuse its discretion when it imposed, upon Mr. Alvarez, a unified sentence of fourteen years, with four years fixed, following his conviction for?

### ARGUMENT

#### The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Imposed, Upon Mr. Alvarez, A Unified Sentence Of Fourteen Years, With Four Years Fixed, Following His Conviction For Grand Theft By Receiving, Possessing, And/Or Obtaining Control Over Stolen Property

Mr. Alvarez asserts that, given any view of the facts, his unified sentence of fourteen years, with four years fixed, is excessive. Where a defendant contends that the sentencing court imposed an excessively harsh sentence, the appellate court will conduct an independent review of the record giving consideration to the nature of the offense, the character of the offender, and the protection of the public interest. *See State v. Reinke*, 103 Idaho 771 (Ct. App. 1982).

The Idaho Supreme Court has held that, “[w]here a sentence is within statutory limits, an appellant has the burden of showing a clear abuse of discretion on the part of the court imposing the sentence.” *State v. Jackson*, 130 Idaho 293, 294 (1997) (quoting *State v. Cotton*, 100 Idaho 573, 577 (1979)). Mr. Alvarez does not allege that his sentence exceeds the statutory maximum. Accordingly, in order to show an abuse of discretion, Mr. Alvarez must show that in light of the governing criteria, the sentence was excessive considering any view of the facts. *Id.* (citing *State v. Broadhead*, 120 Idaho 141, 145 (1991), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Brown*, 121 Idaho 385 (1992)). The governing criteria or objectives of criminal punishment are: (1) protection of society; (2) deterrence of the individual and the public generally; (3) the possibility of rehabilitation; and (4) punishment or retribution for wrongdoing. *Id.* (quoting *State v. Wolfe*,

99 Idaho 382, 384 (1978), *overruled on other grounds by State v. Coassolo*, 136 Idaho 138 (2001)).

Appellate courts use a four-part test for determining whether a district court abused its discretion: Whether the trial court: (1) correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion; (3) acted consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (4) reached its decision by the exercise of reason. *Lunneborg v. My Fun Life*, 163 Idaho 856, 863 (2018). Mr. Alvarez asserts in light of the evidence, including the mitigating factors present in his case, the ultimate conclusion was unreasonable and, as a result, the district court did not reach its decision by an exercise of reason.

Several mitigating factors are present in Mr. Alvarez's case. First, Mr. Alvarez has a long history of substance abuse and a desire for treatment. Idaho courts have previously recognized that substance abuse and a desire for treatment should be considered as a mitigating factor by the district court when that court imposes sentence. *State v. Nice*, 103 Idaho 89 (1982). Mr. Alvarez began using substances as a very young child, at the [REDACTED] as a teenager he began using crack/cocaine; and at the [REDACTED] he began using amphetamines. (PSI, pp.249, 251.) He has been diagnosed with Stimulant Use Disorder - Amphetamine, Severe and Stimulant Use Disorder - Cocaine, Severe. (PSI, pp.5, 250.) Although he has had prior opportunities to engage in treatment, in 2015, at the Dana Center in Arizona and, in 2014, through IDOC's relapse prevention, he needs further treatment and support to achieve lasting sobriety. (PSI, p.5.) It was recommended that he participate in Level 1 Outpatient Treatment. (PSI, pp.5, 258.) Mr. Alvarez reports that he has now quit using substances and is 100% ready to remain abstinent. (PSI, p.255.) He has expressed a strong desire to participate in Drug Court. (Tr., p.224, Ls.3-9; PSI, p.4.) As an alternative, he would like to participate in the PEER

Wellness Center, a program that would help with re-entry into the community, as well as helping with recovery from both substance abuse and mental illness issues. (Tr., p.221, L.8 – p.222, L.21; PSI, p.435.)

Additionally, Idaho courts have previously recognized that Idaho Code § 19-2523 requires the trial court to consider a defendant's mental illness as a sentencing factor. *Hollon v. State*, 132 Idaho 573, 581 (1999). Mr. Alvarez has been previously diagnosed with attention deficit disorder, bipolar disorder, major depression with psychotic features, antisocial personality disorder, and a traumatic brain injury. (PSI, p.249.) He has a history of being physically attacked and emotionally abused, scoring in the "high range of the lifetime General Victimization Scale." (PSI, p.263.) In 2000 or 2001, he was admitted to a mental health hospital in Orofino for three months. (PSI, pp.82, 249.) He has not had any mental health treatment since 2009. (PSI, pp.249-50.) Despite this, he reported feeling significantly disturbed by his mental health with the last year. (PSI, p.261.) As recently as the spring of 2021, he reported symptoms "consistent with a diagnosis of a mood disorder and a possible stress disorder." (PSI, p.261.)

Finally, Mr. Alvarez has shown remorse for his involvement in the instant offense and has several positive character traits. In *State v. Alberts*, 121 Idaho 204 (Ct. App. 1991), the Idaho Court of Appeals reduced the sentence imposed, "In light of Alberts' expression of remorse for his conduct, his recognition of his problem, his willingness to accept treatment and other positive attributes of his character." *Id.* 121 Idaho at 209. Mr. Alvarez's attorney noted that Mr. Alvarez wanted to take responsibility and resolve the case, and wanted to plead guilty pursuant to the State's offer, but due to the COVID priority trial list and the State's refusal to hold the offer open, they were unable to get a plea entered prior to the start of trial. (Tr., p.216,

Ls.5-18.) While Mr. Alvarez was not the person that stole items from Mr. Vicuna (PSI, p.2) and received no money from cashing the stolen check (Tr., p.217, Ls.3-7), he openly expressed his remorse for his involvement in the case stating: “I am sorry I have to be here in front of you all . . .” (Tr., p.218, Ls.8-9.) “I’m just sorry. I am sorry, Steven Vicuna.” (Tr., p.225, Ls.8-9.) And, “I so apologize for my behavior for – it’s my fault being ignorant in life.” (Tr., p.225, Ls.20-22.)

Despite his past and current issues, Mr. Alvarez remains upbeat and has a lot of plan for his future success. (PSI, p.440.) He hopes to help homeless women, by providing them with housing and programing, and start three companies: Alvarez Paints (a home painting business), “Pipen Hot Brats” (a hot dog vending business), and “Manitas Place” (a Mexican restaurant). (PSI, p.440.) He desperately desires a chance to be on probation, whether participating in Drug Court or another treatment program. As he noted at sentencing, “You know, it would be an honor to be on probation. It would be an honor to be on probation. I would, in a year's time, in six month[']s time, this man, this gentleman, this gentleman, you all would applaud, you know. I know I got it in me. I know I wouldn't come up with one excuse. I wouldn't gripe. I wouldn't complain. I've been looking for this.” (Tr., p.222, L.19 – p.223, L.1.)

Based upon the above mitigating factors, Mr. Alvarez asserts that the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence upon him.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Alvarez respectfully requests that this Court reduce his sentence as it deems appropriate. Alternatively, he requests that his case be remanded to the district court for a new sentencing hearing.