Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-26-2021

State v. Alvarez Respondent's Brief Dckt. 48918

A. Introduction

Someone stole Steven Vicuna's driver's license, Social Security card, and two blank checks out of his pickup. (PSI, pp. 1, 340-42; Tr., p. 104, L. 14 – p. 105, L. 2.) Alvarez used one of the stolen blank checks to deposit \$1200 into his account. (PSI, pp. 1-2, 343-46; Tr., p. 105, Ls. 2-10; p. 106, L. 20 – p. 107, L. 24.) Alvarez admitted to depositing the check but told police

Chancellor Threatt had given him check, which Threatt confirmed. (PSI, 346-47, 395.) Alvarez and Chancellor were together when Alvarez deposited the check. (PSI, p. 347.)

The state charged Alvarez with grand theft by receiving, possessing, and/or obtaining control over stolen property. (R., pp. 26-27.) A jury found Alvarez guilty. (R., p. 107.) The district court imposed a sentence of 14 years with four years fixed. (R., pp. 134-36.) Alvarez filed a timely notice of appeal. (R., pp. 138-39.)

Alvarez challenges the district court's decision to impose a unified sentence of 14 years, with four fixed. Alvarez has failed to show an abuse of discretion.

B. Standard of Review

The length of a sentence is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard considering the defendant's entire sentence. State v. Oliver, 144 Idaho 722, 726, 170 P.3d 387, 391 (2007) (citing State v. Strand, 137 Idaho 457, 460, 50 P.3d 472, 475 (2002); State v. Huffman, 144 Idaho 201, 159 P.3d 838 (2007)). Where a sentence is within statutory limits, the appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that it is a clear abuse of discretion. State v. Baker, 136 Idaho 576, 577, 38 P.3d 614, 615 (2001) (citing State v. Lundquist, 134 Idaho 831, 11 P.3d 27 (2000)). In evaluating whether a lower court abused its discretion, the appellate court conducts a four-part inquiry, which asks "whether the trial court: (1) correctly perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) acted within the outer boundaries of its discretion; (3) acted consistently with the legal standards applicable to the specific choices available to it; and (4) reached its decision by the exercise of reason." State v. Herrera, 164 Idaho 261, 270, 429 P.3d 149, 158 (2018) (citing Lunneborg v. My Fun Life, 163 Idaho 856, 863, 421 P.3d 187, 194 (2018)).

C. Alvarez Has Shown No Abuse of the Court's Discretion

To bear the burden of demonstrating an abuse of discretion, the appellant must establish that, under any reasonable view of the facts, the sentence was excessive. State v. Farwell, 144 Idaho 732, 736, 170 P.3d 397, 401 (2007). In determining whether the appellant met this burden, the court considers the entire sentence but, because the decision to release the defendant on parole is exclusively the province of the executive branch, presumes that the determinate portion will be the period of actual incarceration. State v. Bailey, 161 Idaho 887, 895, 392 P.3d 1228, 1236 (2017) (citing Oliver, 144 Idaho at 726, 170 P.3d at 391). To establish that the sentence was excessive, the appellant must demonstrate that reasonable minds could not conclude the sentence was appropriate to accomplish the sentencing goals of protecting society, deterrence, rehabilitation, and retribution. Farwell, 144 Idaho at 736, 170 P.3d at 401. A sentence is reasonable “if it appears necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, or retribution.” Bailey, 161 Idaho at 895-96, 392 P.3d at 1236-37 (quoting State v. McIntosh, 160 Idaho 1, 8, 368 P.3d 621, 628 (2015)).

The district court imposed a reasonable sentence, considering the goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, punishment, with the protection of society as the most salient in consideration of Alvarez. (Tr., p. 226, L. 23 – p. 227, L. 3.) The present case is Alvarez’s *seventh* felony conviction in Idaho for crimes of forgery and theft, creating “one victim after another, after another.” (Tr., p. 227, Ls. 2-18; PSI, pp. 3-4 (stating this was Alvarez’s sixth felony with a seventh pending)). The district court found it “necessary at this point to construct a sentence that will give society as much protection as it can get.” (Tr., p. 227, Ls. 18-21.)

Alvarez argues that mitigating factors including his long history of drug abuse and desire for treatment, his mental illness, and his remorse should have moved the court to impose a lesser

sentence. (Appellant’s brief, pp. 4-5). Alvarez’s argument is not persuasive. The district court noted, “There have been a number of attempts at rehabilitative measures, and they don’t seem to have worked.” (Tr., p. 228, Ls. 2-5.) The district court found that the promises and aspirations Alvarez made before the district court were promises he had made before other courts. (Tr., p. 228, Ls. 5-9.) The record shows similar promises and stated desire to rehabilitate from 2001 (PSI, pp. 154, 170), 2002 (PSI, pp. 74, 82), 2007 (PSI, pp. 8, 14), and 2009 (PSI, pp. 173, 181). Continuing, the district court noted that Alvarez has “had opportunities to avail [him]self of the kinds of services that [Alvarez is] now asking [the district court] to provide.” (Tr., p. 228, Ls. 9-11.) The district court found Alvarez not a candidate for probation. (Tr., p. 228, Ls. 12-14.)

Alvarez has an extensive criminal history. Since 1999, he has been charged criminally in Idaho dozens of times (PSI, pp. 3-4, 10-11, 76-77, 160-62, 171) with dozens more charges from the state of Arizona between 1990 and 1998 (PSI, pp. 78-79, 156-60, 171). The charges include, amongst others, assault, burglary, possession of paraphernalia and controlled substances, failure to appear, trespass, theft, and forgery. (PSI, p. 76-79, 156-61.) His younger brother – who Alvarez described as his “pastor, mentor, best friend,” attempted to help Alvarez multiple times by providing him a home, employment, schooling, and support – told a presentence investigator that Alvarez considers jail and prison “cake walks,” will brag about how many times he’s been to jail, and hoped “the judge understands that [Alvarez] does not respect the law.” (PSI, pp. 96-97, 162-63, 177, 190.) He said, “I hold no malice toward [Alvarez], and I love him, but he is unwilling to take advantage of the help I have offered him” and that Alvarez had “never faced the consequences of his actions.” (PSI, p. 163)

Alvarez has cycled through a revolving door of arrest, prison time, and release, only to be arrested months later for new crimes. In 2007, placed on parole following prison time for his

conviction of possession of a controlled substance, the state charged Alvarez with possession of methamphetamine less than two months after his release into the community. (PSI, p. 8.) Placed on parole in 2008 following prison time for the previous charge, the state charged Alvarez with forgery four months after his release into the community. (PSI, pp. 173, 182.) In Idaho Dept. of Corrections custody until 2014, Alvarez transferred to Arizona under the interstate compact and absconded less than a year later, only to be taken into custody in 2015 where he remained in continuous IDOC custody until late 2018. (PSI, p. 4.) Alvarez committed the present offence less than three months following his release. (PSI, p. 4.) In the months before his arrest for the present offense, Alvarez accrued separate charges of aid/abet petit theft, attempted petit theft, petit theft, and grand theft. (PSI, p. 3-4.) Unsurprisingly, Alvarez LSI-R score is "high" at 42. (PSI, p. 2.)

Despite the classes, certificates, and multiple resources devoted to his improvement, Alvarez has not made changes or taken responsibility for the crimes he has committed. (PSI, pp. 62-73, 177, 193-96.) A presentence investigator wrote Alvarez is "not at all willing to accept responsibility for his actions and own up to his behavior. (PSI, p. 16.) Alvarez's brother told a presentence investigator that Alvarez "has 'always viewed himself as a victim, whatever happens is somebody else's fault.'" (PSI, p. 163.) Alvarez's parole officer said Alvarez "did not take any responsibility at all for his possession / use of drugs." (PSI, p. 14.) Alvarez has not attempted to modify his behavior while in jail, either. Between September 2020 and March 2021, Alvarez had ten incident reports while in Ada County custody including assaultive behavior, refusal to comply with orders, disrespectfulness, disruptiveness, and fighting. (PSI, pp. 4, 267-69, 271-73, 275, 279, 283, 291, 298, 317, 322.)

The community is at risk when Alvarez is out of state custody. He is unable or unwilling to modify his behavior to conform to acceptable, legal standards. Undeterred by the threat of

punishment or in consideration of the harm he causes other, Alvarez continues to create more victims. The district court used proper discretion and considered the totality of all relevant facts and circumstances when it imposed sentence.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm the judgment of the district court.